REVIEWS *Biol. Rev.* (2024), pp. 000–000. doi: 10.1111/brv.13088

BIOLOGICAL

1

Quantifying farm sustainability through the lens of ecological theory

Jonathan Storkey^{1,*}, Chloe Maclaren^{1,2}, James M. Bullock³, Lisa R. Norton⁴, John W. Redhead³ and Richard F. Pywell³

¹Protecting Crops and the Environment, Rothamsted Research, West Common, Harpenden, Hertfordshire, AL5 27Q, UK

²Department of Crop Production Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Almas Alle 8, Uppsala 750 07, Sweden

³UK Centre for Ecology & Hydrology (UKCEH), Maclean Building, Benson Lane, Wallingford, OX10 8BB, UK

⁴UKCEH, Lancaster Environment Centre, Lancaster, LA1 4AP, UK

ABSTRACT

The achievements of the Green Revolution in meeting the nutritional needs of a growing global population have been won at the expense of unintended consequences for the environment. Some of these negative impacts are now threatening the sustainability of food production through the loss of pollinators and natural enemies of crop pests, the evolution of pesticide resistance, declining soil health and vulnerability to climate change. In the search for farming systems that are sustainable both agronomically and environmentally, alternative approaches have been proposed variously called 'agroecological', 'conservation agriculture', 'regenerative' and 'sustainable intensification'. While the widespread recognition of the need for more sustainable farming is to be welcomed, this has created etymological confusion that has the potential to become a barrier to transformation. There is a need, therefore, for objective criteria to evaluate alternative farming systems and to quantify farm sustainability against multiple outcomes. To help meet this challenge, we reviewed the ecological theories that explain variance in regulating and supporting ecosystem services delivered by biological communities in farmland to identify guiding principles for management change. For each theory, we identified associated system metrics that could be used as proxies for agroecosystem function. We identified five principles derived from ecological theory: (i) provide key habitats for ecosystem service providers; (ii) increase crop and non-crop habitat diversity; (iii) increase edge density; (iv) increase nutrient-use efficiency; and (v) avoid extremes of disturbance. By making published knowledge the foundation of the choice of associated metrics, our aim was to establish a broad consensus for their use in sustainability assessment frameworks. Further analysis of their association with farm-scale data on biological communities and/or ecosystem service delivery would provide additional validation for their selection and support for the underpinning theories.

Key words: regenerative farming, agroecology, ecosystem services, natural capital, integrated pest management.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	. 2
	(1) Current threats to the sustainability of farming	. 2
	(2) The problem of measuring farm sustainability	. 3
	(3) Guiding principles for linking management to ecosystem services	. 4
II.	Five ecological theories underpinning farm sustainability	.4
	(1) Mass ratio hypothesis: maintain sufficient areas of habitat on farms to provide resources for functiona	lly
	important ES providers	. 4
	(2) Niche partitioning: increase crop and non-crop habitat heterogeneity to avoid selecting for dominant p	best
	species and to maintain functional diversity of ES providers	. 6
	(3) Spatial mass effects: increase edge density to promote the spillover of ES providers into crops	. 8

* Author for correspondence (Tel.: (+44) 1582 938550; E-mail: jonathan.storkey@rothamsted.ac.uk).

Biological Reviews (2024) 000–000 © 2024 The Authors. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

s	 (4) Resource ratio hypothesis: balance resource ratios better and improve nutrient-use efficiency of system (5) Successional dynamics: avoid extremes of disturbance to balance productivity with function of later successional communities 	n 9 10
III. 1	Discussion	.11
	(1) Gradients of sustainability	11
	(a) Proportion of areas of functionally important habitat	13
	(b) Diversity indices of crop and non-crop habitats	13
	(c) Edge density	13
	(d) Nutrient-use efficiency	13
	(e) Ecosystem service provision index (ESPI)	13
	(f) Treatment frequency index (TFI)	13
	(2) Implementation	14
IV. (Conclusions	.14
V. 4	Acknowledgements	.14
VI. 1	References	.14

I. INTRODUCTION

(1) Current threats to the sustainability of farming

Agricultural landscapes across the developed world are dominated by farming systems with a common lineage that reflects the demands of a growing global population and the strong policy drive, especially in Europe, for national food security and affordable food following the privations of two world wars. Post-war advances in crop breeding led by the Nobel prize-winning laureate, Norman Borlaug (Swaminathan, 2009), the invention of agrochemicals (inorganic fertilisers and pesticides) and increased mechanisation of farming operations, hereafter, the 'Green Revolution' (Evenson & Gollin, 2003), have led to the convergence of farming systems around four common properties: (i) specialisation of business enterprises (away from mixed systems to exclusively livestock or arable); (ii) investment in a small number of crop and livestock species and genotypes supported by large agribusiness and global markets; (iii) increased scale of production both in terms of the size of individual land parcels and the overall enterprise; and (iv) reliance on external inputs of fertilisers and chemical crop protection products (hereafter, 'pesticides' - including herbicides, insecticides and fungicides) and of hydrocarbons to fuel mechanisation. In many areas of the developed world, the resulting homogenisation of farming systems and landscapes has largely replaced the more diverse, locally adapted, small-scale farms that characterised those landscapes up to the middle of the last Century.

The success of the Green Revolution has undoubtedly brought dramatic benefits for humankind and has delivered on the policy goal of ensuring food production keeps pace with a growing global population (Evenson & Gollin, 2003). However, this success has been accompanied by well documented negative unintended consequences for the environment and society. These can be summarised as: (*a*) the large-scale simplification of landscapes negatively impacting national and regional-scale biodiversity through the loss of semi-natural habitats resulting in biotic homogenisation and the selection of generalist (including crop pest) species at the expense of specialists (Carvalheiro et al., 2013; Smart et al., 2006). (b) Intensive use of agrochemicals and homogenisation of cropping systems leading to declines in the biodiversity of the flora and fauna adapted to ruderal habitats through direct effects of pesticides or loss of resources provided by non-crop plants (Donald et al., 2006; Goulson et al., 2015; Storkey et al., 2012). (c) More frequent, mechanised tillage, intensive use of inorganic fertilisers and reduced organic inputs degrading agricultural soils through erosion, contamination, acidification, salinisation, and loss of biological diversity (Kopittke et al., 2019) with particular concern around the impact of declines in soil organic carbon on soil function (Prout et al., 2020). (d) Reliance on pesticides for crop protection and simplification of crop rotations selecting for a small species pool of pernicious pests, weeds and diseases and the overuse of a limited number of pesticide active ingredients leading to the evolution of pesticide resistance (Hawkins et al., 2019). (e) Losses of pesticides and chemical fertilisers through volatilisation, leaching or adsorption on transported soil particles polluting air and water courses with implications for the health of ecosystems and humans (Bell et al., 2021; de Souza et al., 2020). (f) The contribution of agriculture to greenhouse gas emissions through land-use change, the reliance on fossil fuels in mechanical operations and the production of inorganic fertilisers plus the emission of nitrous oxides and methane from fertilisers and livestock (Lamb et al., 2021).

The impacts of some of these negative unintended consequences of the Green Revolution (a, e and f) are largely external to the production system and manifested beyond the physical boundaries of the farm. However, others (b, c and d) represent intrinsic threats to the continued production of high-yielding crops by compromising the inherent productivity of the farmed environment. The loss of farmland functional biodiversity (b) has compromised 'regulating' ecosystem services (ESs) including pest control and pollination on which crop production relies (Bommarco, Kleijn & Potts, 2013). Declining soil organic carbon (c) has negatively impacted supporting services of soil water-holding capacity and nutrient cycling by soil microbes (Neal *et al.*, 2020). Finally, the evolution of pesticide resistance (d) has had a significant impact on farm productivity and profits (Varah et al., 2020). These stresses on the system threaten the agronomic sustainability of farming and may partly explain the widening 'yield gap' between the genetic potential of modern crop cultivars and realised on-farm yields (van Ittersum et al., 2013). The remaining unintended consequences of the Green Revolution that are external to the production system can also be perceived as indirect threats to agronomic sustainability. The simplification of agricultural landscapes (a) reduces species pools of beneficial organisms that might impact long-term resilience of agricultural systems to environmental shocks (Oliver et al., 2015; Redhead et al., 2018). Losses of fertilisers and pesticides to the environment (e) creates pressure on policymakers to tighten the regulatory framework for agrochemical use, reducing their use as agronomic management tools (for example, through the Green Deal and the Farm to Fork Strategy, the European Union currently has the ambitious goal to reduce pesticide use by 50% by 2030). Finally, climate change, driven in part by agricultural emissions (f) is bringing about a wide variety of risks and challenges to production systems (Ortiz-Bobea et al., 2021) and the drive for net zero is creating additional pressure to reduce inputs of inorganic fertilisers.

In response to these global threats, there is now a growing political and scientific consensus that the current, dominant paradigm of 'industrialised' food production is not sustainable (Pingali, 2012; Godfray *et al.*, 2010) – where 'sustainability' is here defined as 'meeting the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs' (Brundtland, 1987, p. 16). If we assume that the primary purpose of farms will remain (in the medium term) the provision of food, then a sustainable farm can be defined as one that can continue to deliver this 'provisioning' ES, *sensu* the Millennium Ecosystem

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13088 by Test, Wiley Online Library on [17/05/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/terms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

Assessment (2005), at a level that meets the nutritional needs of future generations without compromising the associated regulating, supporting and cultural ESs delivered to society by the farm or the surrounding landscape (Garnett *et al.*, 2013).

(2) The problem of measuring farm sustainability

In the face of the incontrovertible evidence of the negative environmental impact of large-scale, industrialised farming and the associated threats to sustainable production, there is movement (particularly in Europe) towards a transformation of farming systems. This is more than the search for a new technological breakthrough (such as gene editing) that could catalyse a 'second Green Revolution' but rather an acknowledgment that a more holistic approach is required that maintains both production and the functional integrity of the agroecosystem by investing in natural capital and ESs (Jones et al., 2016). Over time, terms used to describe this alternative approach to farming have proliferated - we identified a list of eight commonly used terms in the sustainable agriculture literature (Fig. 1). At the time of writing, the term 'regenerative farming/agriculture' is increasingly used. While the widespread recognition of the need for more sustainable farming is to be welcomed, this has created etymological confusion that has the potential to become a barrier to transformation, particularly at the level of the practitioner, and may also limit cooperation and knowledge sharing between groups espousing different terms. It also raises the problem of 'categorisation'. Every individual farm is a unique combination of landscape and environmental context and management options implemented at multiple spatial and temporal scales. While it is possible to generalise farm types in terms of broad environmental constraints and farming systems (Goodwin et al., 2022; Rodríguez, van



Fig. 1. Number of publications identified by a *Web of Science* search using eight search terms associated with the concept of sustainable farming, illustrating the diversity of terminologies. 'Organic' and 'integrated pest management (IPM)' are well-established terms, other concepts, including 'agroecology' and 'regenerative agriculture' are becoming increasingly used but are less well defined. IWM, integrated weed management.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

4

Bussel & Alkemade, 2024), objectively categorising farms according to the more subtle management criteria intrinsic to terms included in Fig. 1 is much more challenging. With the exception of certification schemes with prescribed criteria (for example to qualify produce as 'organic'), there are no agreed criteria for defining farms as, for example, 'regenerative or 'agroecological'.

What is needed, therefore, is a robust, evidence-based protocol for benchmarking the sustainability of farms in terms of multiple outcomes and monitoring the impact of change on continuous gradients of system properties related to environmental and agronomic sustainability. This represents a significant challenge compared to assessing the past success of the Green Revolution that had a single, clearly articulated outcome (increased yield of major crops) that could be easily measured, meaning the relative benefit of any change in practice could be assessed based on its impact on that single outcome (Evenson & Gollin, 2003). There are now several examples in the literature of proposed lists of metrics or indicators that can be used to quantify multiple outcomes and could form the basis of an assessment framework for farm sustainability (Bockstaller et al., 2008; Bonisoli, Galdeano-Gomez & Piedra-Munoz, 2018; Gharsallah, Gandolfi & Facchi, 2021; Mahon et al., 2018; Smith et al., 2017). For such an assessment framework to be relevant at the level of an individual farm, any proposed metrics or indicators must: (i) be measurable in a cost effective and practical way; (*ii*) relate to clearly defined outcomes; and (*iii*) be sensitive to management change so that the impact of an intervention on outcomes can be predicted. However, a recent review of alternative lists of indicators concluded that the lack of consensus amongst experts and transparency in the logic behind the criteria for their selection is currently an impediment to the implementation of a robust framework of this type (de Olde et al., 2017).

(3) Guiding principles for linking management to ecosystem services

Against this background, instead of starting with the question of 'what to measure?', we first review the established knowledge on the ecological processes that underpin the sustainability of both food and wider ES production on farmland. Candidate system properties that can serve as proxies for the status of this ecological function are then identified with reference to guiding principles for beneficial management change. For the purposes of this review, our focus is on agronomic and environmental sustainability with an emphasis on the regulating and supporting ESs delivered by biological communities on farms: (i) regulation of pest and weed populations including the predation of invertebrate pests and weed seeds by natural enemy communities; (ii) pollination of insect-pollinated crops; and (iii) nutrient cycling and water regulation in soils by microbial communities and meso/macrofauna.

In turn, these will determine the downstream outcomes of sustainable food production and agrochemical use and

mitigate the threats to production associated with the unintended consequences of the Green Revolution that threaten agronomic sustainability. We acknowledge the landscape and community ecology bias in our review of ecological theory which we do not intend to be comprehensive. In every case, however, the associated metrics we identify are also relevant to assessing impacts of agriculture on wider environmental sustainability beyond the boundaries of the farm and production system and these are also discussed. The fundamental understanding of the relationship between ESs and farm-scale metrics also facilitates prediction of the impact of a management change if the metrics are also sensitive to specific options (Fig. 2). These management options can be thought of as the 'ingredients' that are common to the alternative 'recipes' for different sustainable farming approaches included in Fig. 1. Rather than attempting to quantify the direct effects of individual management changes (or combinations thereof) on ES, our approach is therefore to predict how a management change would be expected to 'nudge' a farm-scale metric as a proxy for ES delivery.

Based on a knowledge of the literature on the ecological processes that determine the functioning of agroecosystems and underpin crop production, we identified five ecological theories that are useful for identifying sustainability metrics. In each case, starting with an introduction to the ecological theory, we use the theory to suggest a guiding principle to inform practice before identifying potential properties of a farm that could be used as metrics. These could be used in a framework for benchmarking and monitoring farms in terms of the delivery and resilience of ESs related to agronomic sustainability. Finally, in each case, the management interventions that we predict would have a positive benefit on the ES, reflected by a change in the metrics, are discussed.

II. FIVE ECOLOGICAL THEORIES UNDERPINNING FARM SUSTAINABILITY

(1) Mass ratio hypothesis: maintain sufficient areas of habitat on farms to provide resources for functionally important ES providers

The 'mass ratio hypothesis' proposed by Grime (1998) states that ecosystem function is primarily determined by the traits of the dominant species in a biological community with evidence for the community weighted mean of 'effect traits' (*sensu* Lavorel, 2013) being more important than trait divergence in determining ES delivery (Diaz *et al.*, 2007). In practice, this means that the delivery of a given ES on farmland will be weighted by the abundance of individuals with traits that result in them making a disproportionate contribution to ES delivery. Hence the status of their populations (expressed either at a species or functional-group level) or response to management change is indicative of potential effects on ESs. This theory is most relevant to maintaining the regulating ESs of pollination (Potts *et al.*, 2010) and predation of weed seeds and crop pests (Begg *et al.*, 2017);



Fig. 2. The impact of potential management options on ecosystem services (ESs) interpreted in terms of their contribution to meeting five guiding principles based on ecological theories. The ecological theories on which the principles are based (numbers in parentheses) are discussed in detail in Section II; in each case a farm-scale metric is also proposed to monitor and benchmark progress based on continuous gradients (summarised in Section III).

the latter providing 'top-down' regulation of pest and weed populations and reducing the frequency with which pesticides need to be applied to crops (by using surveillance and use of thresholds; Barzman *et al.*, 2015). This will, in turn, reduce non-target impacts as well as the likelihood of resistance evolving – improving the agronomic sustainability of the system.

A literature review of the relationship between invertebrate functional traits and ES delivery, albeit not exclusively in agricultural landscapes, identified specialisation, body size, feeding habit and dispersal range as important traits for both pollination and predation with large, generalist species with wide dispersal ranges (including the examples in Fig. 3) being more effective (de Bello et al., 2010). There is evidence that generalist species are also more resilient to environmental perturbations (Redhead et al., 2018). While it is possible to identify and measure abundance of these species or their functional groups at the farm scale directly (by using, for example pollinator transects or pitfall trapping), this relies on experts and is not easily scalable. An alternative is to assess habitat provision on a farm in terms of the ecological requirements of ES providers (Butler et al., 2009; Staley et al., 2021), or the overlap of invertebrate effect traits with the response traits of the plant communities that support them (Lavorel et al., 2013). For example, for pollinators, farmland habitats could be evaluated in terms of the spatiotemporal provision of pollen and nectar using vegetation classification schemes and databases of canopy architecture, flowering time and

flower traits (Baude *et al.*, 2016) and, for predators by using habitat characteristics that indicate essential refugia outside the crop or cropping season (Woodcock *et al.*, 2010).

There is extensive evidence in the literature for the importance of the absolute amount of semi-natural habitat in the landscape for supporting ESs on farmland; often quantified as % semi-natural habitat versus % farmed (Tscharntke et al., 2005; Garibaldi et al., 2021; Holland et al., 2015) and a recent study used variants of this metric to explain variance in the resilience of crop yields (Redhead et al., 2020). Weighting semi-natural habitats by their functional contribution to regulating ESs (or quantifying important habitats separately) would provide a useful, complementary way of evaluating alternative approaches to managing the farm landscape to ensure sufficient provision of important resources for ES providers at the farm scale. The literature on the ecological requirements of regulating ES providers suggests that three non-crop farmland habitats are particularly important: areas that provide floral resources (especially in spring) (Carvell et al., 2017; Albrecht et al., 2016), tussocky grass margins (Woodcock et al., 2005) and hedgerows (Montgomery, Caruso & Reid, 2020; Albrecht et al., 2016). Where there are opportunities to increase in-field diversity (see Section II.2), these resources may also be provided by areas of the farm used for production, for example by integrating flowering forbs into grass swards (Woodcock et al., 2014). The amounts of functionally important habitats could be integrated at the farm scale by taking the limiting-factor



Fig. 3. Examples of generalist species with functional traits that mean they make a disproportionate contribution to pest and weed control in Europe: the marmalade hoverfly (*Episyrphus balteatus*) (A), the predatory ground beetle *Pterostichus melanarius* (B), the seven-spot ladybird (*Coccinella septempunctata*) (C) and for pollination, the red-tailed bumblebee (*Bombus lapidarius*) (D).

approach that uses the sum of reciprocals function (originally used to describe the effects of nutrients on plant growth; Balmukand, 1928). This combines multiple limitations such that the result cannot exceed the smallest component while reflecting the effect of all constraints. Habitat provision at the farm scale could be quantified from high-resolution satellite imagery in combination with or calibrated against habitat surveys (Butcher *et al.*, 2020) and further refined by assigning a measure of habitat quality.

Increasing the absolute amount of non-crop habitat to support regulating and supporting ESs, for example by establishing field margins (Marshall & Moonen, 2002), is the only guiding principle in our list for which there is a potential direct trade-off with food production as it may entail taking land out of cultivation. Although there is recent evidence that the contribution of ESs to increasing yield can compensate for this land taken out of production, especially if established on less-productive parts of the farm (Pywell et al., 2015), there will be thresholds of habitat provision for any given ES below which its delivery is compromised and above which further loss of crop land cannot be justified on the basis of ES provision (Fig. 4). The lower and upper thresholds for these habitats (in terms of the proportion of farm area) will be context specific [depending on variables including farm size and fragmentation of habitat (Carvell et al., 2017)]. While more will

generally be better, therefore, we recommend presenting the proportions of functionally important habitats separately when benchmarking farms and relying on expert opinion and local knowledge to identify deficiencies.

(2) Niche partitioning: increase crop and non-crop habitat heterogeneity to avoid selecting for dominant pest species and to maintain functional diversity of ES providers

The relationship between species richness and the delivery of a single ES is case specific and not always positive (Balvanera *et al.*, 2006; Hooper *et al.*, 2005), and mass ratio effects mean that individual services may benefit from an approach that optimises the best-performing functional types rather than species richness (see Section II.1). However, when multiple ESs are assessed in parallel, increasing species richness may be seen as desirable insofar as different species perform complementary functions (Hector & Bagchi, 2007; Zavaleta *et al.*, 2010). Where overlap between species in terms of their contribution to different services is small, the multifunctionality of the system has been predicted to continue to increase as additional species are added to the community. Increasing the diversity of habitats in a landscape will, therefore, provide more ecological niches and support a greater range of



Fig. 4. (A) The proportion of functionally important habitat required to support populations of ecosystem service (ES) providers will be a function of the demand for the ES and the ecological requirements of the target species or functional groups. There will be an upper threshold beyond which further habitat creation cannot be justified based on the need for ES provision. The optimal solution at the farm scale will depend on the ecology of the local species pool, existing provision of resources in the wider landscape, and the precise shape of the curve relating habitat area to service provision. (B) Important non-crop habitats for ES of pollination or predation of invertebrate pests and weed seeds, from left to right: tussocky grass margins, wildflower strips and hedgerows.

biological 'response traits' (sensu Lavorel & Garnier, 2002) reflecting different ecological strategies and resource requirements, cascading down to more resilient ES provision (Oliver et al., 2015). In addition, focused studies on individual ESs have also provided some evidence for the potential benefits of biological functional diversity. For example, growing crop species together in an intercrop has multiple benefits for productivity (Tilman, 2020); the resilience of pest control (Greenop et al., 2018) and pollination (Woodcock et al., 2019) is improved by more functionally diverse invertebrate communities; and biodiversity in pastures can contribute to the regulation of soil water (Leimer et al., 2021) and sward nutritional quality (Darch et al., 2020). Such effects have been demonstrated at multiple, potentially interacting, spatial scales, suggesting that habitat heterogeneity provides a useful metric at landscape, farm and field scales (Benton, Vickery & Wilson, 2003).

As well as promoting ecosystem multifunctionality, increasing habitat diversity and niche partitioning in farming systems also disrupts the life cycles of pests, weeds and diseases; a concept that has been understood for millennia and underpins the concept of crop rotations. By favouring or suppressing species with different survival, tolerance, and recovery traits, the greater variety of habitat niches associated with longer rotations reduces the likelihood of pest species becoming dominant and restores diversity to the system (Storkey & Neve, 2018). However, these ecological regulating processes have largely been replaced by pesticides in modern, homogenous cropping systems, with associated threats to sustainability of evolved resistance, loss of biodiversity and negative environmental impacts. The resulting simplification of crop rotations has narrowed the habitat niche of non-crop biodiversity in cultivated fields, selecting for well-adapted, dominant species that have become pernicious pests or weeds of crops; increasing the reliance on specific chemical active ingredients and the likelihood of these species evolving pesticide resistance. Examples include the insect pest cabbage stem flea beetle (Psylliodes chrysocephala) in oilseed rape (Willis et al., 2020) and the weed black-grass (Alopecurus myosuroides) in wheat (Hicks et al., 2018) (Fig. 5). It can be argued, therefore, when monitored over time, more even plant and insect communities within crop fields are indicative of more sustainable farming systems (Storkey & Neve, 2018).

The simplification of landscapes and crop rotations (including the decline of mixed farming and loss of grass leys from arable systems) has been identified as among the

7



Fig. 5. Examples of a pest and weed species that have been selected for by simplified cropping rotations and have now evolved resistance to pesticides making them serious threats to the sustainable productivity of major crops: cabbage stem flea beetle (*Psylliodes chrysocephala*), a pest of oilseed rape (A) and black-grass (*Alopecurus myosuroides*), a weed of cereal crops (B).

primary drivers of declines in farmland biodiversity, the ESs it delivers and resilience of the agroecosystem system (Benton et al., 2003; Bommarco et al., 2013; Bullock et al., 2017). Measures of taxonomic or functional diversity, dominance or evenness of biological communities on and off fields are therefore useful for evaluating future farm sustainability and the impact of a change in practice. However, as with the abundance of key functional types (see Section II.1) measuring this directly is difficult and habitat diversity is, therefore, a useful proxy. A recent meta-analysis of the effect of different types of agricultural diversification provided convincing evidence for its benefit to the ESs of pollination, pest control, nutrient cycling, soil fertility and water regulation without compromising crop yields (Tamburini et al., 2020). In their analysis, the authors included addition of non-crop habitats within or around the field or in the surrounding landscape as a category of diversification. However, we propose that the ecological principles underlying the impact of crop and non-crop habitats are different, and there is more to be gained by quantifying these separately at the farm scale. The proportion and diversity of non-crop habitats contribute to sustaining abundant and diverse communities of ES providers, while a key additional function of crop diversity is to limit populations of disservice providers and thus regulate pest, weed and disease pressure. That said, it is ultimately the combination of non-crop and crop habitats (and the interfaces between them, see Section II.3) that is important for sustainability at the farm scale and which should be the basis of a comprehensive assessment (see Section III).

Indices of biological diversity, such as the Shannon diversity index or Pielou evenness index, can be applied to the diversity of crops (including pastures) and non-crop habitats separately but require different systems for categorising habitat types. In the case of crop diversity, measured either spatially at the farm scale, temporally at the field rotation level or integrating the two, crop species or functional group (cereal, brassica, legume, root crop, perennial, grass/mixed species leys) can be used (MacLaren et al., 2022). Approaches such as intercropping (growing two or more crops simultaneously on the same field) or undersowing a crop with a living mulch could be categorised as distinct crop types. Existing schemes for classifying non-crop habitats designed for ecological surveys (Butcher et al., 2020) are appropriate for deriving an index of non-crop diversity but would benefit from a finer grained definition based on an understanding of the contribution of different habitats to ecosystem services (Holland et al., 2014). Given the loss of semi-natural habitat on farmland, the simplification of crop rotations and decline in mixed farming since the 1960s, increasing habitat diversity and niche partitioning would generally be expected always to be beneficial in modern farming systems. However, at some point there will be a trade-off with the provision of important non-crop habitats, mean patch size and the area of economically viable cropping that implies there may be an optimum level of non-crop and crop diversity (Maskell et al., 2023).

(3) Spatial mass effects: increase edge density to promote the spillover of ES providers into crops

One explanation for the coexistence of species is the 'spillover' of individuals from habitats with positive growth rates into neighbouring habitats in which their fitness is lower but populations are maintained by frequent recolonisation (Shmida & Wilson, 1985). Alternatively termed 'spatial mass effects' or 'source–sink dynamics', this process contributes to maintaining α (within-habitat diversity) through β (betweenhabitat) diversity. Through the use of inorganic fertilisers and chemical pesticides and the simplification of crop rotations, α diversity of biological communities adapted to the regularly disturbed environments of cultivated fields has declined

A

dramatically since the advent of the Green Revolution in the 1960s (Butler, Vickery & Norris, 2007). While this is a conservation concern, it also has implications for agronomic sustainability as some of these species also provide the ESs of crop pollination and regulation of crop pests. Modern crop fields are largely deficient in the primary resources provided to these beneficial invertebrates by weeds (which have been removed by herbicides) and there is a growing evidence base for the importance of the spillover of beneficial invertebrates from neighbouring semi-natural habitats to deliver these services (Rand, Tylianakis & Tscharntke, 2006).

A recent meta-analysis of the effect of landscape configuration on functional biodiversity and agroecosystem services established the benefit of increasing 'edge density' in agricultural landscapes in the context of landscapes with varying amounts of seminatural habitat (Martin et al., 2019). Edge density (km/ha) is defined as the total length of edges (or interfaces between land parcels) divided by total area of the landscape, and thus tends to increase as habitat patches become both more dispersed and connected throughout a landscape. Although significant interactions with landscape composition were also observed, edge density consistently explained additional variance in the abundance of pollinators and natural enemy species measured at the landscape scale. One explanation for this result is that a landscape with higher edge density may benefit populations of dispersallimited species through smaller scale provision of spatially and temporally heterogenous resources. However, spillover effects would also be expected to be more important in maintaining α diversity in these landscapes; potentially increasing yield in fields neighbouring habitats with high abundance of beneficial invertebrates (Pywell et al., 2015). Martin et al. (2019) only observed a few examples of a hump-backed relationship between ESs and edge density indicating that edges were generally not acting as barriers to dispersal at the spatial scales analysed. We, therefore, propose that, for benchmarking farms or monitoring change, increasing edge density should generally be viewed positively. However, taxa adapted to open landscapes may respond negatively to the addition of some boundary features (Carrasco et al., 2018; Jonason et al., 2013). We also note that for a given proportion of habitat in a landscape, edge density trades off against habitat patch size (Martin et al., 2019), which may be important to conserve species that are sensitive to edge effects and adapted to large areas of undisturbed habitat (MacLaren, Buckley & Hale, 2014; Phalan et al., 2011).

Edge density can be measured at the farm scale using remote-sensing imagery and increased by introducing additional landscape features such as boundary features (hedges or tree lines), additional patches of semi-natural habitat or in-field strips of non-crop vegetation such as beetle banks or strips of wildflowers. In the analysis of Martin *et al.* (2019), all edges are treated as being equal in terms of explaining variance in ES provision. However, a simple measure of edge density at the farm scale could be weighted by the functional difference between community types, so that, for example, an edge between two cereal crops would make only a minor contribution to this score while an edge between a cereal and legume crop would score more highly. Adding a field margin to an existing field would score higher still, but rather less so than approaches such as agroforestry or silvopasture. A measure of edge density could also be weighted to account for specific interfaces of habitats with disproportionate effects on specific ESs; for example, a flowering field margin next to an insect-pollinated crop (Gillespie *et al.*, 2022) is likely to be particularly beneficial, and would receive a higher score. Edge density will tend to correlate strongly with measures of connectivity and the relative benefit of an increase in edge density should be interpreted in this context; where new landscape features are created this should be done in a way that connects existing non-crop habitats.

(4) Resource ratio hypothesis: balance resource ratios better and improve nutrient-use efficiency of system

The abundance of ES providers will be positively related to the availability of resources (see Section II.1), whereas species richness and community composition at the farm scale will be determined by niche partitioning and spatial heterogeneity in resource provision (see Section II.2). Within a habitat type, however, the temporal demand for resources and ability to capture them will also differ between species. This concept can explain species coexistence through finer scale niche partitioning within habitat types: species can coexist whenever there are multiple limiting resources and species vary in their demand for different resources (Braakhekke & Hooftman, 1999; Harpole & Tilman, 2007; Harpole et al., 2016). The increase in the availability of any one resource to the extent that it becomes non-limiting shifts the limitation towards a lower number of resources. In the most extreme case, all species will be limited by a single identical resource, and the potential niche dimensionality will be severely reduced, leading to species loss and increased dominance. Conversely, species richness will be higher when resources are available in a balanced manner regarding the needs of the different species in a community (Cardinale et al., 2009).

One of the characteristics of modern farming systems is the reliance on mineral fertilisers to provide crops with the nutrients required for maximum growth and yield. In this sense, cropped fields (and to a lesser extent, pastures) are deliberately managed to ensure these resources are non-limiting, leading to an imbalance of soil nutrients with a particular surfeit of nitrogen and phosphorus. This has had negative unintended consequences for agronomic and environmental sustainability. Firstly, the imbalance of nutrients has selected for a few dominant, nitrophilous, weed species (Storkey et al., 2021) that tend to be particularly competitive for light, which along with water, is the main resource limiting growth in highly fertilised crops. Increasing fertiliser use has been identified as one of the main drivers of declining weed diversity in Europe (Storkey *et al.*, 2012) and it has been hypothesised that a more even ratio of below-ground resources would promote a less-competitive weed community (Smith, Mortensen & Ryan, 2010). The use of inorganic fertilisers has also been shown to weaken plant-microbe networks in soil, compromising the capacity for nutrient cycling (Huang *et al.*, 2019), which particularly increases crop vulnerability to nutrient deficiency under drought conditions (Bowles *et al.*, 2022). Finally, beyond the boundaries of the production system, excess nitrogen and phosphorus in the environment leads to declining water and air quality (through nitrous oxide emissions) and eutrophication of semi-natural habitats with impacts on biodiversity. It would, therefore, be beneficial to improve the balance of resources (and, by implication, nutrient-use efficiency) at the farm scale through reducing the requirement for inorganic fertilisers.

This could be achieved by growing more diverse crop rotations that differ in their resource requirements, particularly the increased use of legumes that do not require nitrogen inputs (MacLaren et al., 2022) and the integration of short-term leys into arable rotations (Austen et al., 2022). These interventions would be captured in a metric of crop functional diversity (Section II.2). In addition, alternative sources of nutrients to inorganic fertilisers could be used including green compost, farmyard manure and anaerobic digestate. These organic inputs have a more balanced stoichiometry than inorganic fertilisers, which may reduce competition between weeds and crops (Ryan et al., 2009), and they also bring additional benefits for soil function by building soil carbon that supports a microbial community with more efficient nutrient cycling (Albano et al., 2023; Neal et al., 2023; Rayne & Aula, 2020). Manure could be applied directly or through the integration of livestock into arable systems (MacLaren et al., 2019).

One approach to benchmarking farms in terms of the balance of their nutrient inputs is to include a measure of the different forms of nutrients such as nitrogen in an index of system diversity (MacLaren et al., 2019; Tamburini et al., 2020). However, a recent meta-analysis of the interaction of so-called 'Ecological Intensification' practices to support yield concluded that the benefits of applied manures or composts or additional biological nitrogen fixation by legumes acted in a largely substitutive way in terms of their interaction with inorganic fertiliser additions (MacLaren et al., 2022). Benefits of the approaches described above in terms of their contribution to sustainability are only realised, therefore, if inorganic fertiliser use is also reduced. We therefore propose the simple metric of 'nutrient use efficiency' from fertilisers (NUE, nutrient offtake in crops/input of nutrient as inorganic fertilisers) at the farm scale as a useful system property for capturing the impact of these changes in practice and likely effects on resource ratios. NUE can be calculated from overall fertiliser inputs and crop yields (using estimated or measured nitrogen and phosphorus contents). Practices such as addition of organic amendments, integration of livestock and increased use of legumes and other diverse crops have the potential to reduce inorganic fertiliser use while maintaining yields (Albano et al., 2023), and so would be expected to improve 'fertiliser yields' as well

as providing the additional benefits of building soil carbon and reducing the environmental impact associated with the manufacture of inorganic fertilisers. Scaling by absolute yield (*sensu* Pittelkow *et al.*, 2013) would avoid the potential danger of targeting improved NUE leading to systems with low productivity.

(5) Successional dynamics: avoid extremes of disturbance to balance productivity with function of later successional communities

It is well known in ecology that recently disturbed (early successional) ecosystems are 'leaky' in terms of nutrient cycling, whereas mid- to late-successional ecosystems have much tighter cycles of nutrient turnover (Chapin, Matson & Vitousek, 2011). The tightening of nutrient cycling is driven by later-stage, longer-lived species tending to possess traits that enable more efficient resource use at lower fertility levels than ruderal species (Raevel, Violle & Munoz, 2012; Reich, 2014) – the resource acquisition/conservation continuum. This is true of soil microbial communities as well as plants, and recent research has indicated that microorganisms receiving long-term carbon inputs in the absence of disturbance modify the physical and chemical structure of the soil to retain water and nutrients better (Neal et al., 2020). In grassland, fungal communities and their interactions with plant species may also take decades to establish after disturbance (Seaton et al., 2022). Most farmland, particularly that dominated by arable crops, is deliberately kept in an early successional state through frequent disturbance (using soil tillage or herbicides to remove extant biomass) so that regular flushes of resources are made available to, predominantly annual, crops (Smith, 2015). Along with high fertiliser inputs, this results in modern arable farming systems being dominated by extreme ruderal habitats characterised by frequent disturbance and high soil fertility. Nutrients are especially vulnerable to losses in these systems via the processes of runoff and erosion from bare ground combined with nitrification, leaching and decomposition of organic inputs with high rates of nutrient turnover (Dungait et al., 2012).

From a community ecology perspective, as well as tillage, the application of pesticides can also be seen as a 'disturbance event' further selecting non-crop species with extreme ruderal strategies of short life cycles, high fecundity and wide dispersal that enable populations to buffer localised, frequent disturbance (MacLaren et al., 2020). These tend to be generalist species with potentially high population growth rates and the propensity to become crop pests. This can be observed in weed floras that are now characterised by a small number of dominant ruderal species (Bourgeois et al., 2019) with dramatic declines in species less well adapted to buffer disturbance events because of low fecundity and/or transient seedbanks (Storkey et al., 2012). The dominance of fewer pest species in turn leads to a reliance on a smaller number of pesticide active ingredients and the evolution of resistance (Hawkins et al., 2019). Agricultural intensification has also selected for a depleted community of pollinators that is now

dominated by generalists that are adapted to modern farmed landscapes with the loss of specialist species and potentially system resilience (Redhead *et al.*, 2018). It would be beneficial, both agronomically and environmentally, therefore, to reduce the selection pressure for extreme ruderal life-history strategies and broaden the ecological niche, increasing the functional diversity of farmland biodiversity.

As a first principle, practices should be followed that avoid large areas of land being in a 'pre-successional' state, i.e. bare ground, which is most vulnerable to resource loss and colonisation by weeds. Cover crops and catch crops can be employed in seasons when cash crops are not grown (Constantin et al., 2010), and crop residues can be retained as physical protection as well as a carbon resource for microbes to immobilise nitrogen (Vogeler, Boldt & Taube, 2022). Secondly, practices that integrate perennial, later successional, vegetation into farmed landscapes that are currently dominated by annual crops, will move farms along the successional gradient. This can be done by integrating semi-natural habitats into the farm landscape, such as the use of riparian buffer strips or in-field strips of perennial vegetation (including 'beetle banks'; MacLeod et al., 2004), using deep-rooted plants that can capture nutrients as water moves through the soil and input carbon directly into the soil from root matter, whilst also providing habitat for pollinators and predators of crop pests (Schulte et al., 2017; MacLeod et al., 2004). Agroforestry or silvopasture offers similar benefits (Pavlidis & Tsihrintzis, 2018; Boinot et al., 2019) and all these interventions would also increase resource provision, habitat heterogeneity and edge density (Sections II.1, II.2 and II.3). Perennial forbs can be sown, potentially in addition to conventional ryegrass cultivars or other grass mixes in 'herbal leys', providing multiple environmental benefits (carbon storage, reduced emissions, resources for pollinators) as well as the potential for improved efficiency of livestock production (Jordon et al., 2022). These levs may be used within arable rotations or within high-intensity grassland management systems (e.g. dairy), although the use of short-term leys for grassland cultivation is associated with creation of bare ground and associated issues and new systems approaches may be needed to replace current intensive systems (Delaby et al., 2020). Finally, where annual crops are grown, intensive, inversion ploughing can be replaced with minimal tillage or direct drilling with benefits for soil health and below-ground functional biodiversity (Cooper et al., 2021; Stroud, 2019).

One option for evaluating a farm in terms of its position along a gradient of vegetation successional dynamics would be to record directly the intensity and frequency of disturbance events (tillage, pesticide application, grazing or mechanical removal of biomass). Examples include the Treatment Frequency Index (TFI) for pesticides, where a single application of an active ingredient at field rate has a TFI of 1 and subsequent pesticide applications increase TFI additively, or a proxy such as number of herbicide application days (Hicks *et al.*, 2018). However, obtaining these detailed management data is often difficult and an alternative approach would be to assess the emergent landscape and habitat characteristics as an indirect measure of the frequency and intensity of disturbance. This could be done using remote-sensing data; for example, a combination of mean Normalised Difference Vegetation Index (NDVI) over a growing season and the intra-annual coefficient of variation has been proposed as a useful index of ESs and would capture periods of bare ground and disturbance events (Paruelo *et al.*, 2016). Secondly, information on crop and non-crop habitat, of the type used to quantify resource provision and habitat diversity (see Sections II.1 and II.2), could be interpreted in terms of life-history traits; for example, by weighting plant communities by their Raunkier life form to quantify proportions of habitat representing different successional stages.

The best environmental outcomes would be expected where disturbance is minimal, localised and/or irregular, to avoid creating strong selection pressure for problematic species and to avoid repeated instances of specific environmental impacts. However, some degree of disturbance in agriculture will always be necessary to: (i) maintain grazing for livestock production and interrupt successional processes to prevent annual cropping systems becoming dominated by perennial weeds, and also on a able to (i) disrupt the life cycles of pests, weeds and diseases adapted to low disturbance and (iii) provide habitat for biodiversity adapted to frequently disturbed habitats (such as farmland birds and threatened arable weeds) (Butler et al., 2009). When seeking to manage successional gradients at the farm scale for agronomic sustainability, a balance between the benefits and costs of disturbance could be achieved by integrating crops and/or pastures with different longevities, and by retaining patches of undisturbed non-crop habitat (which also supports ES providers).

III. DISCUSSION

(1) Gradients of sustainability

In meeting the challenge of how to quantify farm sustainability, rather than starting with the selection of indicators or metrics, we have taken the novel approach of beginning with a review of the current state of knowledge on the ecological processes that determine the regulating and supporting services that underpin food and ES production on farmland. Based on this fundamental understanding of the behaviour of the agroecosystem, properties of the farm were identified that are predicted to reflect the relative integrity and status of these ecological functions. Regardless of the farm system terminology that is used (Fig. 1), we propose the resulting list of farm-scale metrics, summarised below, that can be used as proxies for ESs to identify beneficial directions of travel, benchmark farms and monitor progress along gradients of sustainability (Fig. 6). These metrics are not prescriptive of the exact practices required to achieve them, and so offer a shared framework of common goals to bring together



Fig. 6. Gradients of farm sustainability quantified using metrics informed by ecological theory and guiding principles for system change identified in Fig. 2. ESPI, ecosystem service preservation index; IPM, integrated pest management; NDVI, normalised difference vegetation index. Illustration by www.mair.perkins.co.uk.

different perspectives in sustainable agriculture. There is space for different methods and different priorities (for example, avoiding chemical inputs in organic farming or enhancing soil health in regenerative agriculture) while working towards increasing these metrics of overall ecological functionality of farming systems. They start from where most of our systems now are but aim for much more integrated agroecological systems where crop and non-crop habitats intermingle with diverse cropping regimes to enhance both food and ES production.

By focusing on agronomic and environmental sustainability, we have deliberately prioritised provisioning services delivered by farmland to inform the fundamental re-building of agroecosystem integrity at the farm scale such that the delivery of regulating and supporting services becomes an intrinsic property of the system. This gives rise to metrics that measure 'win–win' scenarios, where farm productivity benefits from restoring ecosystem integrity (Fig. 2), which will likewise deliver benefits to the environment and society beyond farm boundaries. In suggesting metrics, below, we have taken into account the criteria identified by (de Olde *et al.*, 2017) and taken the pragmatic approach of using earth observation data or farm records avoiding the need for the collection of additional empirical data:

(a) Proportion of areas of functionally important habitat

Using high-resolution satellite data or on-farm habitat surveys, record areas of functionally important habitats (for the ESs discussed here, areas of pollen and nectar provision, tussocky grass margins and hedgerows). Express either as separate proportions of total farm area or combine using sum of reciprocals. Option to weight further by habitat quality.

(b) Diversity indices of crop and non-crop habitats

Using high-resolution satellite data, farm crop maps and/or on-farm surveys, record areas of different crop species and non-crop habitat types. Express using indices of diversity or evenness calculated on an area basis (for example, Simpson, Shannon or Pielou index; Magurran, 2003). For crops, this could be calculated based on genotypic or functional diversity. Non-crop habitats could be assessed using established habitat classification schemes (Butcher *et al.*, 2020) with the option of creating further subcategories relevant to the ES of interest.

(c) Edge density

Using high-resolution satellite data or farm maps of crops and semi-natural habitat, measure the length of interface between differing habitats and divide by total farm area. This can include crops adjacent to semi-natural habitats or interfaces between two different crop types. There is the option of weighting edges by their potential contribution to ecosystem function, for example, upweighting an interface of an insect-pollinated crop with a flower-rich habitat.

(d) Nutrient-use efficiency

Using farm records of inorganic fertiliser inputs (expressed as total kg of nitrogen or phosphorus applied on the whole farm in a single cropping season or averaged over several years) and nutrient offtake, calculate nutrient-use efficiency as offtake/inputs at the level of the farm. Nitrogen offtake can be calculated from yields and nitrogen concentration of harvested material. Where nitrogen concentration is not known, it can be estimated based on crop type.

(e) Ecosystem service provision index (ESPI)

Based on analysis of satellite data, two attributes of the seasonal dynamics of the NDVI can be combined to give a measure of overall productivity and variation in time and space of green cover (a proxy for disturbance) (Paruelo *et al.*, 2016). The annual mean NDVI (NDVImean), an indicator of light interception and hence of productivity, and the intra-annual coefficient of variation of the NDVI (NDVICV), a descriptor of seasonality, can be combined into an ES provision index [(ESPI) = NDVImean × 1 – NDVICV] calculated at the farm scale. If remote-sensing data are not available, proportions of different crops and non-crop habitats, and information on their life histories, could be used to estimate disturbance frequencies.

(f) Treatment frequency index (TFI)

Using farm data on frequency and rates of pesticide inputs, the TFI represents a proxy for intensity of disturbance from pesticide use and selection pressure for the evolution of pesticide resistance. The TFI is calculated by dividing the total amounts of active ingredients used in each crop by the standard doses assigned to each use of the active ingredient and can be further refined to include the environmental toxicity of different active ingredients (Kudsk, Jorgensen & Orum, 2018). The TFI calculated for each crop can be summed across the whole farm and expressed on a per hectare basis.

The list of six metrics above is founded on a consensus of knowledge from the ecological literature and as such is not contentious, but our focus on regulating and supporting ESs delivered to production systems by biological communities means that our list is inevitably incomplete if outcomes other than sustainable production and agrochemical use are considered. For example, we have not referenced the extensive literature on metrics of soil health that may have a primary focus on alternative outcomes that are external to the production system, such as climate change mitigation (Chabbi et al., 2017). However, our approach of using unifying scientific theory to interpret the impact of alternative approaches to farm management and identify outcomes and metrics has the potential to be applied more widely in other disciplines to help build a framework for quantifying farm sustainability that has broad acceptance across the academic, policy and practitioner communities.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

(2) Implementation

Basing our rationale for the selection of metrics on established ecological theory gives confidence that they are effective proxies for agroecosystem function. They can, therefore, be used in the first instance to monitor and inform the 'direction of travel'; an improvement in one or more of the metrics is assumed to have a net beneficial effect for one or more ES (Fig. 2). As the metrics can also be derived from remote-sensing data or existing farm management records, they also provide a basis for baselining and benchmarking farms along the gradients of sustainability (Fig. 6) without the need for additional surveys. Comparing farms at the regional or catchment scale would account for potential large-scale, confounding effects including variation in regional species pools. It would also allow the metrics to be scaled beyond the individual farm to inform management of farm clusters or local landscapes.

However, the implementation of our framework would benefit greatly from further quantitative analysis of the relationships between directly measured data on ESs (or ES providers) and the farm-scale metrics we have identified. These analyses could be done retrospectively on published data or new data derived from traditional ecological surveys or sampling methodologies. In the future, it is likely that new technologies (computer vision, acoustic monitoring, radar, and molecular methods) will transform our capability to monitor biodiversity at the farm scale (van Klink et al., 2022). Using these data to challenge our framework will be valuable for: (i) providing additional evidence to support the assumption that the metrics are effective proxies for ESs and for the underlying theories; (ii) calibrating and quantifying the shape of the relationship between metrics and ESs (identifying nonlinearity and thresholds); and (iii) contextualising the relationships between metrics and ESs at the regional scale (thereby capturing effects of regional species pools and landscape structure).

IV. CONCLUSIONS

(1) The concept of farm sustainability can be difficult to evaluate objectively because it depends on the choice of system outcomes used in an assessment framework and their inherent trade-offs and synergies. A 'results-based' framework that measures outcomes (including ESs) directly also has the challenge of developing robust methodologies for the quantification of outcomes that may respond to processes operating over different spatial and temporal scales. Using an alternative, 'practice-based' approach to benchmark and monitor sustainability, while more tractable, is also challenging because the impact of any one practice on an outcome will depend on the local system and environmental context. Evidence on the relative benefits of alternative practices, and potential trade-offs elsewhere in the system, is also often lacking. (2) With the aim of developing a scalable and practical framework for benchmarking in terms of agronomic and environmental sustainability, we took the pragmatic approach of focussing on the 'middle ground' between these two approaches. Guided by the consensus of evidence in the literature and fundamental ecological theory, we identified properties of farms that are both responsive to land-use and management change and determine ES delivery and downstream outcomes – i.e. proxies for agroecosystem function. Focussing on this interface between practice and outcomes provides a basis for decision making ('how will a possible management change impact one or more system properties?') and monitoring progress towards more sustainable systems.

(3) The resulting gradients of sustainability we identified could be used to inform and promote incremental change at scale that does not presume categorical system change (e.g. from so-called 'conventional' to 'regenerative'). In so doing we acknowledge the challenge of system categorisation and that farms sit along a continuum defined by different measures of sustainability (and are at different starting points). A given farm can, therefore, be assessed against the six metrics to identify areas for improvement based on a comparison with farms in a similar region or landscape. For example, a farm may score highly against the criteria of 'provision of key habitats' but these may not be well integrated within the cropped areas of the farm (measured by 'edge density'), limiting the provision of ESs to support crop production.

(4) The implementation of our framework is predicated on the integration of data at the farm scale on land use (habitat maps) and management (fertiliser and pesticide use) and the full value of a set of metrics for an individual farm will only be realised in the context of equivalent data from multiple farms in the same landscape or region. As well as validating the relationships between system metrics and ESs, therefore, there is also a parallel need to develop scalable methodologies for collating these data based on Earth observation, digital farm maps and farm management records.

V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was funded by UKRI Grants NE/T000244/2 and NE/W005050/1 AgZero+: Towards sustainable, climateneutral farming. AgZero+ is jointly supported by the Natural Environment Research Council (NERC) and the Biotechnology and Biological Sciences Research Council (BBSRC).

VI. REFERENCES

ALBANO, X., WHITMORE, A. P., SAKRABANI, R., THOMAS, C. L., SIZMUR, T., RITZ, K., HARRIS, J., PAWLETT, M., WATTS, C. & HAEFELE, S. M. (2023). Effect of different organic amendments on actual and achievable yields in a cereal-based cropping system. *Journal of Soil Science and Plant Nutrition* 23, 2122–2137.

- ALBRECHT, H., CAMBECEDES, J., LANG, M. & WAGNER, M. (2016). Management options for the conservation of rare arable plants in Europe. *Botany Letters* 163(4), 389–415.
- AUSTEN, N., TILLE, S., BERDENI, D., FIRBANK, L. G., LAPPAGE, M., NELSON, M., HELGASON, T., MARSHALL-HARRIES, E., HUGHES, H. B., SUMMERS, R., CAMERON, D. D. & LEAKE, J. R. (2022). Experimental evaluation of biological regeneration of arable soil: the effects of grass-clover leys and arbuscular mycorrhizal inoculants on wheat growth, yield, and shoot pathology. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13, 955985.
- BALMUKAND, B. H. (1928). Studies in crop variation: V. The relation between yield and soil nutrients. *Journal of Agricultural Science* 18, 602–627.
- BALVANERA, P., PFISTERER, A. B., BUCHMANN, N., HE, J. S., NAKASHIZUKA, T., RAFFAELLI, D. & SCHMID, B. (2006). Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. *Ecology Letters* 9(10), 1146–1156.
- BARZMAN, M., BARBERI, P., BIRCH, A. N. E., BOONEKAMP, P., DACHBRODT-SAAYDEH, S., GRAF, B., HOMMEL, B., JENSEN, J. E., KISS, J., KUDSK, P., LAMICHHANE, J. R., MESSEAN, A., MOONEN, A. C., RATNADASS, A., RICCI, P., *ET AL.* (2015). Eight principles of integrated pest management. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 35(4), 1199–1215.
- BAUDE, M., KUNIN, W. E., BOATMAN, N. D., CONVERS, S., DAVIES, N., GILLESPIE, M. A. K., MORTON, R. D., SMART, S. M. & MEMMOTT, J. (2016). Historical nectar assessment reveals the fall and rise of floral resources in Britain. *Nature* 530(7588), 85–88.
- BEGG, G. S., COOK, S. M., DYE, R., FERRANTE, M., FRANCK, P., LAVIGNE, C., LOVEI, G. L., MANSION-VAQUIE, A., PELL, J. K., PETIT, S., QUESADA, N., RICCI, B., WRATTEN, S. D. & BIRCH, A. N. E. (2017). A functional overview of conservation biological control. *Crop Protection* 97, 145–158.
- BELL, V. A., NADEN, P. S., TIPPING, E., DAVIES, H. N., CARNELL, E., DAVIES, J. A. C., DORE, A. J., DRAGOSITS, U., LAPWORTH, D. J., MUHAMMED, S. E., QUINTON, J. N., STUART, M., TOMLINSON, S., WANG, L., WHITMORE, A. P., *et al.*. (2021). Long term simulations of macronutrients (C, N and P) in UK freshwaters. *Science of the Total Environment* **776**, 145813.
- BENTON, T. G., VICKERY, J. A. & WILSON, J. D. (2003). Farmland biodiversity: is habitat heterogeneity the key? *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 18(4), 182–188.
- BOCKSTALLER, C., GUICHARD, L., MAKOWSKI, D., AVELINE, A., GIRARDIN, P. & PLANTUREUX, S. (2008). Agri-environmental indicators to assess cropping and farming systems. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 28(1), 139–149.
- BOINOT, S., FRIED, G., STORKEY, J., METCALFE, H., BARKAOUI, K., LAURI, P. E. & MEZIERE, D. (2019). Alley cropping agroforestry systems: reservoirs for weeds or refugia for plant diversity? *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* 284, 106584.
- BOMMARCO, R., KLEIJN, D. & POTTS, S. G. (2013). Ecological intensification: harnessing ecosystem services for food security. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 28(4), 230–238.
- BONISOLI, L., GALDEANO-GOMEZ, E. & PIEDRA-MUNOZ, L. (2018). Deconstructing criteria and assessment tools to build agri-sustainability indicators and support farmers' decision-making process. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 182, 1080–1094.
- BOURGEOIS, B., MUNOZ, F., FRIED, G., MAHAUT, L., ARMENGOT, L., DENELLE, P., STORKEY, J., GABA, S. & VIOLLE, C. (2019). What makes a weed a weed? A largescale evaluation of arable weeds through a functional lens. *American Journal of Botany* 106(1), 90–100.
- BOWLES, T. M., JILLING, A., MORAN-RIVERA, K., SCHNECKER, J. & GRANDY, A. S. (2022). Crop rotational complexity affects plant-soil nitrogen cycling during water deficit. *Soil Biology & Biochemistry* 166, 108552.
- BRAAKHEKKE, W. G. & HOOFTMAN, D. A. P. (1999). The resource balance hypothesis of plant species diversity in grassland. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 10(2), 187–200.
- BRUNDTLAND, G. (1987). Report of the world commission on environment and development: our common future. United Nations General assembly document A/42/427.
- BULLOCK, J. M., DHANJAL-ADAMS, K. L., MILNE, A., OLIVER, T. H., TODMAN, L. C., WHITMORE, A. P. & PYWELL, R. F. (2017). Resilience and food security: rethinking an ecological concept. *Journal of Ecology* 105(4), 880–884.
- BUTCHER, B., CAREY, P., EDMONDS, R., NORTON, L. & TREWEEK, J. (2020). UK Habitat Classification Habitat definitions v1.1.
- BUTLER, S. J., BROOKS, D., FEBER, R. E., STORKEY, J., VICKERY, J. A. & NORRIS, K. (2009). A cross-taxonomic index for quantifying the health of farmland biodiversity. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 46(6), 1154–1162.
- BUTLER, S. J., VICKERY, J. A. & NORRIS, K. (2007). Farmland biodiversity and the footprint of agriculture. *Science* **315**(5810), 381–384.
- CARDINALE, B. J., HILLEBRAND, H., HARPOLE, W. S., GROSS, K. & PTACNIK, R. (2009). Separating the influence of resource 'availability' from resource 'imbalance' on productivity-diversity relationships. *Ecology Letters* 12(6), 475–487.
- CARRASCO, L., NORTON, L., HENRYS, P., SIRIWARDENA, G. M., RHODES, C. J., ROWLAND, C. & MORTON, D. (2018). Habitat diversity and structure regulate British bird richness: implications of non-linear relationships for conservation. *Biological Conservation* 226, 256–263.

- CARVALHEIRO, L. G., KUNIN, W. E., KEIL, P., AGUIRRE-GUTIERREZ, J., ELLIS, W. N., FOX, R., GROOM, Q., HENNEKENS, S., VAN LANDUYT, W., MAES, D., VAN DE MEUTTER, F., MICHEZ, D., RASMONT, P., ODE, B., POTTS, S. G., *ET AL.* (2013). Species richness declines and biotic homogenisation have slowed down for NW-European pollinators and plants. *Ecology Letters* 16(7), 870–878.
- CARVELL, C., BOURKE, A. F. G., DREIER, S., FREEMAN, S. N., HULMES, S., JORDAN, W. C., REDHEAD, J. W., SUMNER, S., WANG, J. & HEARD, M. S. (2017). Bumblebee family lineage survival is enhanced in high-quality landscapes. *Nature* 543(7646), 547–549.
- CHABBI, A., LEHMANN, J., CIAIS, P., LOESCHER, H. W., COTRUFO, M. F., DON, A., SANCLEMENTS, M., SCHIPPER, L., SIX, J., SMITH, P. & RUMPEL, C. (2017). Aligning agriculture and climate policy. *Nature Climate Change* 7(5), 307–309.
- CHAPIN, F. S., MATSON, P. A. & VITOUSEK, P. M. (2011). Principles of Terrestrial Ecosystem Ecology, Second Edition. Springer, New York.
- CONSTANTIN, J., MARY, B., LAURENT, F., AUBRION, G., FONTAINE, A., KERVEILLANT, P. & BEAUDOIN, N. (2010). Effects of catch crops, no till and reduced nitrogen fertilization on nitrogen leaching and balance in three long-term experiments. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 135(4), 268–278.
- COOPER, H. V., SJOGERSTEN, S., LARK, R. M. & MOONEY, S. J. (2021). To till or not to till in a temperate ecosystem? Implications for climate change mitigation. *Environmental Research Letters* **16**, 54022.
- DARCH, T., MCGRATH, S. P., LEE, M. R. F., BEAUMONT, D. A., BLACKWELL, M. S. A., HORROCKS, C. A., EVANS, J. & STORKEY, J. (2020). The mineral composition of wild-type and cultivated varieties of pasture species. *Agronomy* **10**(10), 1463.
- DE BELLO, F., LAVOREL, S., DIAZ, S., HARRINGTON, R., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., BARDGETT, R. D., BERG, M. P., CIPRIOTTI, P., FELD, C. K., HERING, D., DA SILVA, P. M., POTTS, S. G., SANDIN, L., SOUSA, J. P., STORKEY, J., *ET AL.* (2010). Towards an assessment of multiple ecosystem processes and services via functional traits. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **19**(10), 2873–2893.
- DE OLDE, E. M., MOLLER, H., MARCHAND, F., MCDOWELL, R. W., MACLEOD, C. J., SAUTIER, M., HALLOY, S., BARBER, A., BENGE, J., BOCKSTALLER, C., BOKKERS, E. A. M., DE BOER, I. J. M., LEGUN, K. A., LE QUELLEC, I., MERFIELD, C., *ET AL* (2017). When experts disagree: the need to rethink indicator selection for assessing sustainability of agriculture. *Environment Development and* Sustainability 19(4), 1327–1342.
- DE SOUZA, R. M., SEIBERT, D., QUESADA, H. B., BASSETTI, F. D., FAGUNDES-KLEN, M. R. & BERGAMASCO, R. (2020). Occurrence, impacts and general aspects of pesticides in surface water: a review. *Process Safety and Environmental Protection* 135, 22–37.
- DELABY, L., FINN, J. A., GRANGE, G. & HORAN, B. (2020). Pasture-based dairy Systems in Temperate Lowlands: challenges and opportunities for the future. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems* 4, 543587.
- DIAZ, S., LAVOREL, S., DE BELLO, F., QUETIER, F., GRIGULIS, K. & ROBSON, M. (2007). Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **104**(52), 20684–20689.
- DONALD, P. F., SANDERSON, F. J., BURFIELD, I. J. & VAN BOMMEL, F. P. J. (2006). Further evidence of continent-wide impacts of agricultural intensification on European farmland birds, 1990-2000. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* **116**(3–4), 189–196.
- DUNGAIT, J. A. J., HOPKINS, D. W., GREGORY, A. S. & WHITMORE, A. P. (2012). Soil organic matter turnover is governed by accessibility not recalcitrance. *Global Change Biology* 18(6), 1781–1796.
- EVENSON, R. E. & GOLLIN, D. (2003). Assessing the impact of the Green revolution, 1960 to 2000. *Science* **300**(5620), 758–762.
- GARIBALDI, L. A., ODDI, F. J., MIGUEZ, F. E., BARTOMEUS, I., ORR, M. C., JOBBAGY, E. G., KREMEN, C., SCHULTE, L. A., HUGHES, A. C., BAGNATO, C., ABRAMSON, G., BRIDGEWATER, P., CARELLA, D. G., DIAZ, S., DICKS, L. V., *ET AL.* (2021). Working landscapes need at least 20% native habitat. *Conservation Letters* 14(2), 12773.
- GARNETT, T., APPLEBY, M. C., BALMFORD, A., BATEMAN, I. J., BENTON, T. G., BLOOMER, P., BURLINGAME, B., DAWKINS, M., DOLAN, L., FRASER, D., HERRERO, M., HOFFMANN, I., SMITH, P., THORNTON, P. K., TOULMIN, C., *ET AL.* (2013). Sustainable intensification in agriculture: premises and policies. *Science* 341(6141), 33–34.
- GHARSALLAH, O., GANDOLFI, C. & FACCHI, A. (2021). Methodologies for the sustainability assessment of agricultural production systems, with a focus on Rice: a review. Sustainability 13(19), 11123.
- GILLESPIE, M. A. K., BAUDE, M., BIESMEIJER, J., BOATMAN, N., BUDGE, G. E., CROWE, A., DAVIES, N., EVANS, R., MEMMOTT, J., MORTON, R. D., MOSS, E., MURPHY, M., PIETRAVALLE, S., POTTS, S. G., ROBERTS, S. P. M., *ET AL.* (2022). Landscape-scale drivers of pollinator communities may depend on landuse configuration. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B-Biological Sciences* **377**, 172.

Biological Reviews (2024) 000-000 © 2024 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.13088 by Test, Wiley Online Library on [1705/2024]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/etms-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

16

Jonathan Storkey and others

- GODFRAY, H. C. J., BEDDINGTON, J. R., CRUTE, I. R., HADDAD, L., LAWRENCE, D., MUIR, J. F., PRETTY, J., ROBINSON, S., THOMAS, S. M. & TOULMIN, C. (2010). Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. *Science* 327(5967), 812–818.
- GOODWIN, C. E. D., BUTIKOFER, L., HATFIELD, J. H., EVANS, P. M., BULLOCK, J. M., STORKEY, J., MEAD, A., RICHTER, G. M., HENRYS, P. A., PYWELL, R. F. & REDHEAD, J. W. (2022). Multi-tier archetypes to characterise British landscapes, farmland and farming practices. *Environmental Research Letters* 17, 95002.
- GOULSON, D., NICHOLLS, E., BOTIAS, C. & ROTHERAY, E. L. (2015). Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. *Science* 347, 1255957.
- GREENOP, A., WOODCOCK, B. A., WILBY, A., COOK, S. M. & PYWELL, R. F. (2018). Functional diversity positively affects prey suppression by invertebrate predators: a meta-analysis. *Ecology* **99**(8), 1771–1782.
- GRIME, J. P. (1998). Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology* 86(6), 902–910.
- HARPOLE, W. S., SULLIVAN, L. L., LIND, E. M., FIRN, J., ADLER, P. B., BORER, E. T., CHASE, J., FAY, P. A., HAUTIER, Y., HILLEBRAND, H., MACDOUGALLM, A. S., SEABLOOM, E. W., WILLIAMS, R., BAKKER, J. D., CADOTTE, M. W., *et al.* (2016). Addition of multiple limiting resources reduces grassland diversity. *Nature* 537(7618), 93–96.
- HARPOLE, W. S. & TILMAN, D. (2007). Grassland species loss resulting from reduced niche dimension. *Nature* 446(7137), 791–793.
- HAWKINS, N. J., BASS, C., DIXON, A. & NEVE, P. (2019). The evolutionary origins of pesticide resistance. *Biological Reviews* 94(1), 135–155.
- HECTOR, A. & BAGCHI, R. (2007). Biodiversity and ecosystem multifunctionality. *Nature* **448**(7150), 188–190.
- HICKS, H. L., COMONT, D., COUTTS, S. R., CROOK, L., HULL, R., NORRIS, K., NEVE, P., CHILDS, D. Z. & FRECKLETON, R. P. (2018). The factors driving evolved herbicide resistance at a national scale. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 2(3), 529–536.
- HOLLAND, J. M., SMITH, B. M., STORKEY, J., LUTMAN, P. J. W. & AEBISCHER, N. J. (2015). Managing habitats on English farmland for insect pollinator conservation. *Biological Conservation* 182, 215–222.
- HOLLAND, J. M., STORKEY, J., LUTMAN, P. J. W., BIRKETT, T., SIMPER, J. & AEBISCHER, N. J. (2014). Utilisation of agri-environment scheme habitats to enhance invertebrate ecosystem service providers. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 183, 103–109.
- HOOPER, D. U., CHAPIN, F. S., EWEL, J. J., HECTOR, A., INCHAUSTI, P., LAVOREL, S., LAWTON, J. H., LODGE, D. M., LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., SCHMID, B., SETALA, H., SYMSTAD, A. J., VANDERMEER, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2005). Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs* 75(1), 3–35.
- HUANG, R. L., MCGRATH, S. P., HIRSCH, P. R., CLARK, I. M., STORKEY, J., WU, L. Y., ZHOU, J. Z. & LIANG, Y. T. (2019). Plant-microbe networks in soil are weakened by century-long use of inorganic fertilizers. *Microbial Biotechnology* 12(6), 1464–1475.
- JONASON, D., SMITH, H. G., BENGTSSON, J. & BIRKHOFER, K. (2013). Landscape simplification promotes weed seed predation by carabid beetles (Coleoptera: Carabidae). Landscape Ecology 28(3), 487–494.
- JONES, L., NORTON, L., AUSTIN, Z., BROWNE, A. L., DONOVAN, D., EMMETT, B. A., GRABOWSKI, Z. J., HOWARD, D. C., JONES, J. P. G., KENTER, J. O., MANLEY, W., MORRIS, C., ROBINSON, D. A., SHORT, C., SIRIWARDENA, G. M., *ET AL* (2016). Stocks and flows of natural and human-derived capital in ecosystem services. *Land Use Policy* 52, 151–162.
- JORDON, M. W., WILLIS, K. J., BUERKNER, P. C. & PETROKOFSKY, G. (2022). Rotational grazing and multispecies herbal leys increase productivity in temperate pastoral systems-a meta-analysis. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 337, 108075.
- KOPITTKE, P. M., MENZIES, N. W., WANG, P., MCKENNA, B. A. & LOMBI, E. (2019). Soil and the intensification of agriculture for global food security. *Environment International* 132, 105078.
- KUDSK, P., JORGENSEN, L. N. & ORUM, J. E. (2018). Pesticide load-a new Danish pesticide risk indicator with multiple applications. Land Use Policy 70, 384–393.
- LAMB, W. F., WIEDMANN, T., PONGRATZ, J., ANDREW, R., CRIPPA, M., OLIVIER, J. G. J., WIEDENHOFER, D., MATTIOLI, G., AL KHOURDAJIE, A., HOUSE, J., PACHAURI, S., FIGUEROA, M., SAHEB, Y., SLADE, R., HUBACEK, K., *ET AL.* (2021). A review of trends and drivers of greenhouse gas emissions by sector from 1990 to 2018. *Environmental Research Letters* 16, 073005.
- LAVOREL, S. (2013). Plant functional effects on ecosystem services. *Journal of Ecology* 101(1), 4–8.
- LAVOREL, S. & GARNIER, E. (2002). Predicting changes in community composition and ecosystem functioning from plant traits: revisiting the holy grail. *Functional Ecology* 16(5), 545–556.
- LAVOREL, S., STORKEY, J., BARDGETT, R. D., DE BELLO, F., BERG, M. P., LE ROUX, X., MORETTI, M., MULDER, C., PAKEMAN, R. J., DIAZ, S. & HARRINGTON, R. (2013). A novel framework for linking functional diversity of

plants with other trophic levels for the quantification of ecosystem services. *Journal* of Vegetation Science 24(5), 942–948.

- LEIMER, S., BERNER, D., BIRKHOFER, K., BOEDDINGHAUS, R. S., FISCHER, M., KANDELER, E., KUKA, K., MARHAN, S., PRATI, D., SCHAFER, D., SCHONING, I., SOLLY, E. F., WOLTERS, V. & WILCKE, W. (2021). Land-use intensity and biodiversity effects on infiltration capacity and hydraulic conductivity of grassland soils in southern Germany. *Ecohydrology* 14, 2301.
- MACLAREN, C., BUCKLEY, H. & HALE, R. (2014). Conservation of forest biodiversity and ecosystem properties in a pastoral landscape of the Ecuadorian Andes. *Agroforestry Systems* 88(2), 369–381.
- MACLAREN, C., MEAD, A., VAN BALEN, D., CLAESSENS, L., ETANA, A., DE HAAN, J., HAAGSMA, W., JACK, O., KELLER, T., LABUSCHAGNE, J., MYRBECK, A., NECPALOVA, M., NZIGUHEBA, G., SIX, J., STRAUSS, J., *ET AL.* (2022). Long-term evidence for ecological intensification as a pathway to sustainable agriculture. *Nature Sustainability* 5, 770–779.
- MACLAREN, C., STORKEY, J., MENEGAT, A., METCALFE, H. & DEHNEN-SCHMUTZ, K. (2020). An ecological future for weed science to sustain crop production and the environment. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 40, 24.
- MACLAREN, C., STORKEY, J., STRAUSS, J., SWANEPOEL, P. & DEHNEN-SCHMUTZ, K. (2019). Livestock in diverse cropping systems improve weed management and sustain yields whilst reducing inputs. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 56(1), 144–156.
- MACLEOD, A., WRATTEN, S. D., SOTHERTON, N. W. & THOMAS, M. B. (2004). 'Beetle banks' as refuges for beneficial arthropods in farmland: long-term changes in predator communities and habitat. *Agricultural and Forest Entomology* 6(2), 147–154. MAGURRAN, A. E. (2003). *Measuring Biological Diversity*. Blackwell, Oxford.
- MAHON, N., CRUTE, I., DI BONITO, M., SIMMONS, E. A. & ISLAM, M. M. (2018). Towards a broad-based and holistic framework of sustainable intensification indicators. *Land Use Policy* 77, 576–597.
- MARSHALL, E. J. R. & MOONEN, A. C. (2002). Field margins in northern Europe: their functions and interactions with agriculture. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 89(1-2), 5-21.
- MARTIN, E. A., DAINESE, M., CLOUGH, Y., BALDI, A., BOMMARCO, R., GAGIC, V., GARRATT, M. P. D., HOLZSCHUH, A., KLEIJN, D., KOVACS-HOSTYANSZKI, A., MARINI, L., POTTS, S. G., SMITH, H. G., AL HASSAN, D., ALBRECHT, M., *ET AL.* (2019). The interplay of landscape composition and configuration: new pathways to manage functional biodiversity and agroecosystem services across Europe. *Ecology Letters* 22(7), 1083–1094.
- MASKELL, L., ALISON, J., FORBES, N., JARVIS, S., ROBINSON, D., SIRIWARDENA, G., WOOD, C. & SMART, S. (2023). Inconsistent relationships between area, heterogeneity and plant species richness in temperate farmed landscapes. *Oikos* 2023(5), 9720.
- MONTGOMERY, I., CARUSO, T. & REID, N. (2020). Hedgerows as ecosystems: service delivery, management, and restoration. In *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* (Volume **51**, **51**, ed. D. J. FUTUYMA), pp. 81–102. Annual Reviews, Palo Alto, San Mateo, CA.
- MILLENNIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (2005). Ecosystems and Human Well-Being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, DC.
- NEAL, A. L., BACQ-LABREUIL, A., ZHANG, X. X., CLARK, I. M., COLEMAN, K., MOONEY, S. J., RITZ, K. & CRAWFORD, J. W. (2020). Soil as an extended composite phenotype of the microbial metagenome. *Scientific Reports* **10**, 10649.
- NEAL, A. L., BARRAT, H. A., BACQ-LEBREUIL, A., QIN, Y. W., ZHANG, X. X., TAKAHASHI, T., RUBIO, V., HUGHES, D., CLARK, I. M., CARDENAS, L. M., GARDINER, L. J., KRISHNA, R., GLENDINING, M. L., RITZ, K., MOONEY, S. J. & CRAWFORD, J. W. (2023). Arable soil nitrogen dynamics reflect organic inputs via the extended composite phenotype. *Nature Food* 4(1), 51–60.
- OLIVER, T. H., HEARD, M. S., ISAAC, N. J. B., ROY, D. B., PROCTER, D., EIGENBROD, F., FRECKLETON, R., HECTOR, A., ORME, D. L., PETCHEY, O. L., PROENCA, V., RAFFAELLI, D., SUTTLE, K. B., MACE, G. M., MARTIN-LOPEZ, B., *ET AL.* (2015). Biodiversity and resilience of ecosystem functions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 30(11), 673–684.
- ORTIZ-BOBEA, A., AULT, T. R., CARRILLO, C. M., CHAMBERS, R. G. & LOBEL, D. B. (2021). Anthropogenic climate change has slowed global agricultural productivity growth. *Nature Climate Change* 11(4), 306–312.
- PARUELO, J. M., TEXEIRA, M., STAIANO, L., MASTRANGELO, M., AMDAN, L. & GALLEGO, F. (2016). An integrative index of ecosystem services provision based on remotely sensed data. *Ecological Indicators* **71**, 145–154.
- PAVLIDIS, G. & TSIHRINTZIS, V. A. (2018). Environmental benefits and control of pollution to surface water and groundwater by agroforestry systems: a review. *Water Resources Management* 32(1), 1–29.
- PHALAN, B., ONIAL, M., BALMFORD, A. & GREEN, R. E. (2011). Reconciling food production and biodiversity conservation: land sharing and land sparing compared. *Science* 333(6047), 1289–1291.
- PINGALI, P. L. (2012). Green revolution: impacts, limits, and the path ahead. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109(31), 12302–12308.
- PITTELKOW, C. M., ADVIENTO-BORBE, M. A., HILL, J. E., SIX, J., VAN KESSEL, C. & LINQUIST, B. A. (2013). Yield-scaled global warming potential of annual nitrous

oxide and methane emissions from continuously flooded rice in response to nitrogen input. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 177, 10–20.

- POTTS, S. G., BIESMEIJER, J. C., KREMEN, C., NEUMANN, P., SCHWEIGER, O. & KUNIN, W. E. (2010). Global pollinator declines: trends, impacts and drivers. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 25(6), 345–353.
- PROUT, J. M., SHEPHERD, K. D., MCGRATH, S. P., KIRK, G. J. D. & HAEFELE, S. M. (2020). What is a good level of soil organic matter? An index based on organic carbon to clay ratio. *European Journal of Soil Science* 72(6), 2493–2503.
- PYWELL, R. F., HEARD, M. S., WOODCOCK, B. A., HINSLEY, S., RIDDING, L., NOWAKOWSKI, M. & BULLOCK, J. M. (2015). Wildlife-friendly farming increases crop yield: evidence for ecological intensification. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 282, 20151740.
- RAEVEL, V., VIOLLE, C. & MUNOZ, F. (2012). Mechanisms of ecological succession: insights from plant functional strategies. *Oikos* 121(11), 1761–1770.
- RAND, T. A., TYLIANAKIS, J. M. & TSCHARNTKE, T. (2006). Spillover edge effects: the dispersal of agriculturally subsidized insect natural enemies into adjacent natural habitats. *Ecology Letters* **9**(5), 603–614.
- RAVNE, N. & AULA, L. (2020). Livestock manure and the impacts on soil health: a review. Soil Systems 4, 64.
- REDHEAD, J. W., OLIVER, T. H., WOODCOCK, B. & PYWELL, R. F. (2020). The influence of landscape composition and configuration on crop yield resilience. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 57(11), 2180–2190.
- REDHEAD, J. W., WOODCOCK, B., POCOCK, M. J. O., PYWELL, R. F., VANBERGEN, A. J. & OLIVER, T. H. (2018). Potential landscape-scale pollinator networks across Great Britain: structure, stability and influence of agricultural land cover. *Ecology Letters* 21(12), 1821–1832.
- REICH, P. B. (2014). The world-wide 'fast-slow' plant economics spectrum: a traits manifesto. *Journal of Ecology* **102**(2), 275–301.
- RODRÍGUEZ, S. L., VAN BUSSEL, L. G. J. & ALKEMADE, R. (2024). Classification of agricultural land management systems for global modeling of biodiversity and ecosystem services. Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment 360, 108795.
- RYAN, M. R., SMITH, R. G., MORTENSEN, D. A., TEASDALE, J. R., CURRAN, W. S., SEIDEL, R. & SHUMWAY, D. L. (2009). Weed-crop competition relationships differ between organic and conventional cropping systems. *Weed Research* 49(6), 572–580.
- SCHULTE, L. A., NIEMI, J., HELMERS, M. J., LIEBMAN, M., ARBUCKLE, J. G., JAMES, D. E., KOLKA, R. K., O'NEAL, M. E., TOMER, M. D., TYNDALL, J. C., ASBJORNSEN, H., DROBNEY, P., NEAL, J., VAN RYSWYK, G. & WITTE, C. (2017). Prairie strips improve biodiversity and the delivery of multiple ecosystem services from corrn-soybean croplands. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114(42), 11247–11252.
- SEATON, F. M., GRIFFITHS, R. I., GOODALL, T., LEBRON, I. & NORTON, L. R. (2022). Pasture age impacts soil fungal composition while bacteria respond to soil chemistry. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* 330, 107900.
- SHMIDA, A. & WILSON, M. V. (1985). Biological determinants of species diversity. *Journal of Biogeography* 12(1), 1–20.
- SMART, S. M., THOMPSON, K., MARRS, R. H., LE DUC, M. G., MASKELL, L. C. & FIRBANK, L. G. (2006). Biotic homogenization and changes in species diversity across human-modified ecosystems. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 273(1601), 2659–2665.
- SMITH, A., SNAPP, S., CHIKOWO, R., THORNE, P., BEKUNDA, M. & GLOVER, J. (2017). Measuring sustainable intensification in smallholder agroecosystems: a review. *Global Food Security* 12, 127–138.
- SMITH, R. G. (2015). A succession-energy framework for reducing non-target impacts of annual crop production. Agricultural Systems 133, 14–21.
- SMITH, R. G., MORTENSEN, D. A. & RYAN, M. R. (2010). A new hypothesis for the functional role of diversity in mediating resource pools and weed-crop competition in agroecosystems. *Weed Research* 50(1), 37–48.
- STALEY, J. T., REDHEAD, J. W., O'CONNOR, R. S., JARVIS, S. G., SIRIWARDENA, G. M., HENDERSON, I. G., BOTHAM, M. S., CARVELL, C., SMART, S. M., PHILLIPS, S., JONES, N., MCCRACKEN, M. E., CHRISTELOW, J., HOWELL, K. & PYWELL, R. F. (2021). Designing a survey to monitor multi-scale

(Received 9 August 2023; revised 9 April 2024; accepted 12 April 2024)

impacts of agri-environment schemes on mobile taxa. *Journal of Environmental Management* **290**, 112589.

- STORKEY, J., MEAD, A., ADDY, J. & MACDONALD, A. J. (2021). Agricultural intensification and climate change have increased the threat from weeds. *Global Change Biology* 27(11), 2416–2425.
- STORKEY, J., MEYER, S., STILL, K. S. & LEUSCHNER, C. (2012). The impact of agricultural intensification and land-use change on the European arable flora. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 279(1732), 1421–1429.
- STORKEY, J. & NEVE, P. (2018). What good is weed diversity? Weed Research 58(4), 239-243.
- STROUD, J. L. (2019). Soil health pilot study in England: outcomes from an on-farm earthworm survey. *PLoS One* 14(2), e0203909.
- SWAMINATHAN, M. S. (2009). Norman E. Borlaug (1914–2009) Obituary. Nature 461(7266), 894.
- TAMBURINI, G., BOMMARCO, R., WANGER, T. C., KREMEN, C., VAN DER HEIJDEN, M. G. A., LIEBMAN, M. & HALLIN, S. (2020). Agricultural diversification promotes multiple ecosystem services without compromising yield. *Science Advances* 6(45), eaba1715.
- TILMAN, D. (2020). Benefits of intensive agricultural intercropping. Nature Plants 6(6), 604–605.
- TSCHARNTKE, T., KLEIN, A. M., KRUESS, A., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & THIES, C. (2005). Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity ecosystem service management. *Ecology Letters* 8(8), 857–874.
- VAN ITTERSUM, M. K., CASSMAN, K. G., GRASSINI, P., WOLF, J., TITTONELL, P. & HOCHMAN, Z. (2013). Yield gap analysis with local to global relevance-a review. *Field Crops Research* 143, 4–17.
- VAN KLINK, R., AUGUST, T., BAS, Y., BODESHEIM, P., BONN, A., FOSSOY, F., HOYE, T. T., JONGEJANS, E., MENZ, M. H. M., MIRALDO, A., ROSLIN, T., ROY, H. E., RUCZYNSKI, I., SCHIGEL, D., SCHÄFFLER, L., *ET AL.* (2022). Emerging technologies revolutionise insect ecology and monitoring. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 37(10), 872–885.
- VARAH, A., AHODO, K., COUTTS, S. R., HICKS, H. L., COMONT, D., CROOK, L., HULL, R., NEVE, P., CHILDS, D. Z., FRECKLETON, R. P. & NORRIS, K. (2020). The costs of human-induced evolution in an agricultural system. *Nature Sustainability* 3(1), 63–71.
- VOGELER, I., BOLDT, M. & TAUBE, F. (2022). Mineralisation of catch crop residues and N transfer to the subsequent crop. *Science of the Total Environment* 810, 152142.
- WILLIS, C. E., FOSTER, S. P., ZIMMER, C. T., ELIAS, J., CHANG, X. M., FIELD, L. M., WILLIAMSON, M. S. & DAVIES, T. G. E. (2020). Investigating the status of pyrethroid resistance in UK populations of the cabbage stem flea beetle (Psylliodes chrysocephala). *Crop Protection* 138, 105316.
- WOODCOCK, B. A., GARRATT, M. P. D., POWNEY, G. D., SHAW, R. F., OSBORNE, J. L., SOROKA, J., LINDSTROM, S. A. M., STANLEY, D., OUVRARD, P., EDWARDS, M. E., JAUKER, F., MCCRACKEN, M. E., ZOU, Y., POTTS, S. G., RUNDLOF, M., *ET AL.* (2019). Meta-analysis reveals that pollinator functional diversity and abundance enhance crop pollination and yield. *Nature Communications* 10, 1481.
- WOODCOCK, B. A., REDHEAD, J., VANBERGEN, A. J., HULMES, L., HULMES, S., PEYTON, J., NOWAKOWSKI, M., PYWELL, R. F. & HEARD, M. S. (2010). Impact of habitat type and landscape structure on biomass, species richness and functional diversity of ground beetles. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* 139(1–2), 181–186.
- WOODCOCK, B. A., SAVAGE, J., BULLOCK, J. M., NOWAKOWSKI, M., ORR, R., TALLOWIN, J. R. B. & PYWELL, R. F. (2014). Enhancing floral resources for pollinators in productive agricultural grasslands. *Biological Conservation* 171, 44–51.
- WOODCOCK, B. A., WESTBURY, D. B., POTTS, S. G., HARRIS, S. J. & BROWN, V. K. (2005). Establishing field margins to promote beetle conservation in arable farms. *Agriculture Ecosystems & Environment* **107**(2–3), 255–266.
- ZAVALETA, E. S., PASARI, J. R., HULVEY, K. B. & TILMAN, G. D. (2010). Sustaining multiple ecosystem functions in grassland communities requires higher biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107(4), 1443–1446.